IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-01-1831 LOWER COURT CASE NO. 88 CF-689

BRUCE DOUGLAS PACE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER Florida Bar No. 0320234 Capital Collateral Counsel -Northern Region

JOHN M. JACKSON Florida Bar No. 0993476 Assistant CCC-NR 1533 S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 488-7200

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Trial and Direct Appeal

On December 14, 1988, a Grand Jury in the Circuit Court of Santa Rosa County issued an indictment of Mr. Pace for the first degree murder and armed robbery of Floyd Covington. (R. 1132-33) Mr. Pace pleaded not guilty to the charges. (R. 1252) Jury selection for Mr. Pace's trial began on August 21, 1989. (R. 1) On August 23, 1989, Mr. Pace's guilt phase started. (R. 532) The jury found him guilty on all counts. (R. 1210) A penalty phase proceeding was conducted on August 26, 1989 (R. 1030), after which the jury recommended a sentence of death for the murder of Mr. Covington by a vote of seven to five. (R. 1211)

On November 16, 1989, Circuit Judge Ben Gordon adjudged Mr. Pace guilt and sentenced him to death for the murder and 15 years imprisonment for the robbery. (R. 1238-43) In support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Mr. Pace had a previous conviction for a violent felony, a robbery in 1982; (2) Mr. Pace was on parole at the time of the homicide; and (3) the homicide was committed during the course of a robbery. (R. 1234-45) The court found no mitigating circumstances. (R. 1236-37)

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Pace's conviction and the death sentence. <u>See Pace v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 1992). Justices Overton, Barkett, and Kogan concurred with the conviction but dissented, without an opinion, as to the death sentence. <u>See id.</u> The relevant portion of the Court's opinion for the instant appeal is as follows:

> [W]e hold that the aggravating circumstances of previous conviction of felony involving violence, committed while on parole, and committed while engaged in a robbery are all supported beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial judge found no statutory mitigating circumstances and, after reviewing the nonstatutory mitigating evidence, concluded that none of the suggested mitigating factors had been established. Considering the totality of the circumstances, we conclude that the record supports the trial judge's conclusion. Even if one or more nonstatutory mitigating factors were wrongfully rejected, we are persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that the weight thereof was so insignificant that the trial judge would have imposed death. Because the aggravating circumstances outweigh any nonstatutory mitigating evidence, death is the appropriate penalty.

Accordingly, we affirm the conviction and sentence of Bruce Douglas Pace.

Id. at 1035-36 (citations omitted).

B. Post-conviction proceedings

On March 7, 1997, Mr. Pace filed an amended motion for

postconviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(c), a hearing was held on August 18, 1998 to determine whether Mr. Pace was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. (PCR. 1192) On December 15, 1998, the circuit court issued an order, directing that an evidentiary hearing be held on several claims: failure by the State to disclose exculpatory or impeachment evidence; newly discovered evidence; ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to perform an adequate investigation, failure to properly cross-examine certain witnesses, failure to call available witnesses, failure to object to improper prosecutorial comments in quilt and penalty phase closing arguments, failure to investigate and present mitigating evidence of Mr. Pace's mental health and difficult childhood. (PCR. 1192-1203)

The evidentiary hearing was conducted on June 12, 13, and 14, 2000. (PCR. 1165) At the hearing, Mr. Pace presented several lay witnesses who provided detailed testimony regarding his crack addiction and how it affected his mental health. Mr. Pace presented the unrebutted testimony of his two trial experts, Dr. James Larson and Dr. Peter Szmurlo. Both doctors testified regarding the flaws in their trial

evaluations, as well as their new diagnosis that Mr. Pace suffered from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime, and that Mr. Pace was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Mr. Pace also presented his postconviction expert, Dr. Michael Herkov, who testified that at the time of the crime, Mr. Pace suffered from a severe crack cocaine addiction. Dr, Herkov also found that, based on his addiction, Mr. Pace suffered from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime, and that Mr. Pace was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Mr. Pace also presented the unrebutted testimony of Dr. Barry Crown, who found, among other things, that Mr. Pace suffered from brain damage that affected his judgement and ability to reason. Dr. Crown also found that the affects of Mr. Pace's crack use would be enhanced by the brain damage. Lastly, Mr. Pace presented the testimony of his trial attorneys, Sam Hall and Randy Etheridge, as well as James Martin, the investigator who assisted them.

On June 11, 2001, the circuit court entered an order that denied Mr. Pace relief. (PCR. 1164-91) This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Pace's trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to investigate and present Mr. Pace's history of crack cocaine abuse and addiction. His addiction constituted valuable nonstatutory mitigation, and with evidence of his addiction, three mental health professions, found the two statutory mental mitigators.

II. Trial counsel further failed to present a guilt phase defense based on Mr. Pace's crack cocaine addiction, as his addiction prevented him from forming the specific intent necessary for a conviction of first-degree murder.

III. At trial, the State failed to disclose evidence that Mr. Pace could and would have used: 1) a report showing why Mr. Pace's fingerprint on the victim's vehicle was not incriminating and 2) a letter reprimanding the investigator in this case for improper, unethical behavior just prior to Mr. Pace's trial.

IV. Mr. Pace's constitutional right to remain silent was violated by the prosecutor's improper comments on his silence. Trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the comments.

V. Mr. Pace was sentenced in an unconstitutional manner, as the State did not specify in the indictment which aggravators were sought and the jury was not required to unanimously find that each aggravator had been proven beyond a

reasonable doubt.

VI. The lower court erred by not ordering certain state agencies to comply with Mr. Pace's public records requests.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In this appeal, Mr. Pace brings claims that the prosecution failed to disclose information in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>. The standard of review for "whether a reasonable probability exists that the disclosure of the suppressed evidence would have changed the outcome of the trial is a mixed question of law and fact" and thus must be reviewed de novo with this Court only deferring to the lower court's factual findings. <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 373, 377 (Fla. 2001).

Similarly, both the prejudice and performance prongs of Mr. Pace's ineffective assistance of counsel claims are "mixed questions of law and fact, with deference on appeal to be given only to the lower court's *factual* findings." <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 2000) (emphasis in original).

ARGUMENT I

MR. PACE ESTABLISHED AT THE HEARING BELOW THAT HE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF HIS TRIAL. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT EVIDENCE OF MR. PACE'S SEVERE CRACK ADDICTION. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO EFFECTIVELY INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT EVIDENCE OF MR. PACE'S DIFFICULT CHILDHOOD. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. PACE

б

RELIEF ON THIS CLAIM.

I. INTRODUCTION

Under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), counsel has "a duty to bring such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." <u>Id.</u> at 688 (citation omitted). At the hearing below, Mr. Pace established that he was denied a reliable adversarial testing in the penalty phase of his trial as a result of his attorneys' ineffective representation.¹ His trial counsel failed in two primary ways: (1) trial counsel failed to investigate Mr. Pace's history of crack cocaine use, failed to provide this information to his mental health experts, and failed to consider presenting it as mitigation; and, (2) trial counsel failed to effectively investigate evidence of Mr. Pace's difficult childhood, and failed consider presenting it as possible mitigation.

Mr. Pace was prejudiced by trial counsel's ineffectiveness. Had trial counsel effectively investigated, Mr. Pace's jurors would have heard the following: evidence

¹Mr. Pace's defense team consisted of three individuals: Samuel Hall, Randall Etheridge, and Jim Martin. Mr. Hall was the first chair, or lead, attorney and was responsible for the penalty phase. Mr. Etheridge was the second chair attorney and was responsible for the guilt phase. Mr. Martin was the investigator who assisted Mr. Pace's attorneys. (PCR. 2008, 2015)

that established two statutory mitigators; extensive nonstatutory mitigation, including evidence of drug addiction and organic brain damage; and, evidence that would have corroborated the paltry mitigation placed before the jurors by trial counsel. Considering the fact that the jurors voted seven to five for death without hearing this substantial and compelling mitigation, there is more than a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficient performance the vote of one juror would have been different. <u>See Phillips v.</u> <u>State</u>, 608 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1992). Thus, the circuit court erred in denying Mr. Pace relief on this claim.

II. HISTORY OF CRACK USE

At Mr. Pace's evidentiary hearing, he presented extensive and unrebutted evidence of his long-term crack cocaine use that trial counsel failed to investigate. The lower court concluded that because trial counsel chose not to investigate based on a strategic decision, they did not render deficient performance. However, the lower court, like counsel at the time of Mr. Pace's trial, missed the true issue. The lower court premised its order on the same fact that trial counsel based its "strategy" - the fact that Mr. Pace was not high on crack at the time of the offense. The lower court, like counsel at the time of trial, then erroneously assumed that

any history of drug use and abuse was irrelevant if the defendant was not high on crack at the time of the offense. As this Court has recognized, that is the wrong standard. Even if Mr. Pace was "cold sober" during the offense, his history of drug use and abuse still constitutes mitigation. <u>See Mahn v.</u> <u>State</u>, 714 So. 2d 391, 401 (Fla. 1998) (citation omitted). Trial counsel's failure to investigate Mr. Pace's crack use and consider presenting such evidence during his penalty phase constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

Part of trial counsel's duties include the duty to conduct a reasonable investigation for any possible mitigating evidence. <u>See Porter v. Singletary</u>, 14 F.3d 554 (11th Cir. 1994). To assess whether trial counsel did conduct a reasonable investigation, the Eleventh Circuit formulated a three-prong inquiry: (1) "whether a reasonable investigation should have uncovered such mitigating evidence;" (2) "whether the failure to put this evidence before the jury was a tactical choice made by trial counsel;" (3) if the performance was deficient and not the result of a tactical decision, "whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>See Porter</u>, 14 F.3d at 557 (citations, emphasis omitted).

However, "the mere incantation of 'strategy' does not insulate attorney behavior from review..." <u>Stevens v. Zant</u>, 968 F.2d 1076, 1083 (11th Cir. 1992). See also <u>Horton v. Zant</u>, 941 F.2d 1449, 1462 (11th Cir. 1991) ("[O]ur case law rejects the notion that a 'strategic' decision can be reasonable when an attorney has failed to investigate his options and make a reasonable choice between them."); <u>Jackson v. Herring</u>, 42 F.3d 1350, 1368 (11th Cir. 1995) ("[A] legal decision to forgo a mitigation presentation cannot be reasonable if it is unsupported by sufficient investigation."). The record from the evidentiary hearing clearly shows that trial counsel failed to investigate Mr. Pace's crack use. Thus, his "strategic" choice to forgo using this information was not a reasonable one.

A. Deficient Investigation

Mr. Pace contends that he was provided ineffective assistance during the penalty phase of his capital trial by his attorneys' failure to investigate his long-term crack use and the effects it had on him, and trial counsel's failure to present this mitigating evidence during his sentencing proceeding.

Courts have expressly and repeatedly held that in sentencing proceedings trial counsel has a duty to investigate

and prepare available mitigating evidence for the sentencer's consideration. <u>See Phillips v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992) (granting new sentencing phase on ineffective assistance of counsel claim where trial attorney failed to present substantial existing mitigation); <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 798 So. 2d 713, 716 (Fla. 2001) (same); <u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So. 2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1996) (same); <u>Hildwin v. Dugger</u>, 654 So. 2d 107, 110 (Fla. 1995) (same).

Mr. Pace's trial attorneys unreasonably failed to discover and present readily available evidence. This failure is compounded by the fact that the attorneys actually possessed some of the mitigating evidence, or information which could have easily directed them to substantial mitigation. Nonetheless, trial counsel neglected to properly investigate to discover this extensive evidence. Counsel must reasonably inquire and follow up on the information counsel already has. <u>See Jackson v. Herring</u>, 42 F.3d 1350, 1367 (11th Cir. 1995) (concluding that trial counsel's investigation into mitigating evidence was unreasonable where counsel "had a small amount of mitigating evidence regarding [the defendant's] history, but ... inexplicably failed to follow up with further interviews or investigation"). Trial counsel in the instant case received information from witness statements

to police and during depositions that should have alerted him to the fact that Mr. Pace had a history of drug problems, specifically a crack cocaine dependency.

Upon hearing various individuals mention Mr. Pace's extensive crack cocaine use, trial counsel should have delved into this matter. Had he done so, these individuals could have explained that Mr. Pace regularly used excessive amounts of crack cocaine. Failing to explore these individuals' knowledge of Mr. Pace's drug use constitutes deficient performance. See Ragsdale v. State, 798 So. 2d 713, 721 (2001) (citing, as one reason for granting defendant's penalty ineffective assistance of counsel claims, that mitigation "witnesses would have been available if counsel had conducted a minimal investigation"); Baxter v. Thomas, 45 F.3d 1501 (11th Cir. 1995) ("[H]ad defense counsel conducted a reasonable investigation, [he] would have unearthed this mitigating evidence.") If counsel had investigated, he would have located additional witnesses who had information beneficial to Mr. Pace and were available and willing to testify at trial.

Despite not uncovering or presenting evidence of Mr. Pace's drug use, the lower court concluded that "trial counsel's investigation into [Mr. Pace's] drug use was reasonable based upon the representations of [Mr. Pace] and

others." (PCR. 1179) However, the lower court's order is based on the representations of Mr. Pace and others that Mr. Pace was not intoxicated on the day of the offense. Mr. Pace's sobriety that day is not the definitive issue. Regardless of whether Mr. Pace was intoxicated, he and those close to him also represented that he had a history of consistent heavy cocaine use. Trial counsel had a duty to investigate, as potential mitigation, Mr. Pace's history of drug use and the possibility that he had a crack cocaine addiction.

1. Representations of Mr. Pace

The circuit court noted that "counsel should not be faulted for relying on Pace's representations when developing their investigation plan." Mr. Pace does not dispute that. In fact, had trial counsel relied on the totality of Mr. Pace's representations, he would have investigated Mr. Pace's overall crack use, not just his use on the day of the offense. Although Mr. Pace told counsel that he did not use crack on the day of the offense, he also told trial counsel that he had used crack almost daily for several weeks leading up to the crime.

In addition to informing his counsel directly about his crack use, Mr. Pace also discussed his crack use and abuse with the mental health experts who evaluated him. For

instance, Dr. Larson reported that upon graduating from high school,

[Mr. Pace] began a lifestyle of physical labor and drug abuse. He especially liked [crack] cocaine because it allowed him to party late into the night and continue with work the next day. It kept his 'hyperactivity going' and he also talked of frequent partying all night long. For three months prior to the incident for which he is charged, [Mr. Pace] reported that he used [crack] cocaine almost daily.

(Report of Dr. Larson contained in Exhibit 3, entered into evidence at PCR. 1690) Dr. Larson also noted that Mr. Pace earned "elevated scores" on the MacAndrew's Alcoholism Scale. Such scores "reflect either an alcoholic and/or drug abuse adjustment or the propensity of developing such a problem in the future." Id. Dr. Larson explained that Mr. Pace's elevated scores were "consistent with interview information." Id.

Mr. Pace also discussed his extensive crack cocaine use with Dr. Szmurlo. He told Dr. Szmurlo that he had been using about \$150 of crack cocaine per day during the three months prior to the offense. (Report of Dr. Szmurlo contained in Exhibit 3, entered into evidence at PCR. 1690) Following his evaluation, Dr. Szmurlo concluded that "rather heavy use of cocaine prior to the offense" was the only psychiatric mitigating circumstance that he detected. <u>Id</u>.

To each of the people with whom he discussed his case, Mr. Pace consistently reported a past including substantial use of crack cocaine. As the circuit court noted, even trial counsel "believed that Pace had a drug problem." (PCR. 1175, Order on Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief) Still, trial counsel neglected to investigate Mr. Pace's drug use for possible presentation in the penalty phase.

2. Representations of Mr. Pace's Friends and Relatives

In the event that trial counsel was initially unaware of Mr. Pace's crack abuse, he should have recognized that it needed exploring given the fact that so many people, without prompting, mentioned Mr. Pace's crack use in their various statements.

a. Kenneth Bembo

Trial attorneys possessed a statement given to the police from Kenneth Bembo, a friend of Mr. Pace, stating that he had knew Mr. Pace used crack cocaine. (Contained in Exhibit 3) Mr. Bembo stated that Mr. Pace had not always used drugs regularly but suddenly he became "hooked." He also described Mr. Pace as being very dirty, with strong body odor, and appearing to not have bathed recently. He had also heard rumors that Mr. Pace was \$1000 in debt to Wayne Hobbs for cocaine Mr. Pace had purchased.

Even if Mr. Bembo's description of Mr. Pace did not signal to his trial attorneys that they should investigate the possibility of that Mr. Pace had a crack cocaine habit, Mr. Bembo certainly recognized it as a problem. In fact, he speculated that Mr. Pace may have committed this crime to support his drug habit. Had trial counsel listened to Mr. Bembo they would have learned that he was a valuable source of information.

At Mr. Pace's evidentiary hearing, Mr. Bembo explained that Mr. Pace's excessive drug use often amounted to between \$50 and \$100 of crack cocaine each day. (PCR. 1651-55) Mr. Bembo also testified that Mr. Pace could not handle his crack cocaine, that he would lose control when consuming crack cocaine, and that he would not act like himself when he was strung out on the drug. <u>Id</u>. According to Mr. Bembo, Mr. Pace was strung out on crack cocaine the night before the victim disappeared. (PCR. 1661)

If Mr. Bembo had been asked, he would have provided trial counsel with the same information to which he testified at Mr. Pace's evidentiary hearing. (PCR. 1662)

b. Barry Copeland

Barry Copeland, a friend and former classmate and coworker of Mr. Pace, had additional information which was

valuable to Mr. Pace's case. In his statement to the police, Mr. Copeland said that on the Sunday after the offense, Mr. Pace was in the same clothes he had been wearing since the preceding Friday. (Contained in Exhibit 3) That Sunday, Mr. Pace was also trying to get drugs from Pensacola. Mr. Copeland expanded on his statement in his deposition.

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