IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRUCE DOUGLAS PACE,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SCO1-1831

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The circuit court granted an evidentiary hearing on, inter alia, this claim (4PCR 794). However, the State is unable to discern that Pace presented any evidence on this claim other than Randall Etheridge's testimony that *if* the prosecutor improperly commented on Pace's right to remain silent, defense counsel was negligent if he did not seek a mistrial. The State's position remains that this issue is not preserved for review.

As Pace acknowledged in his 3.850 motion and in his brief on appeal, defense counsel did not object to the comments about which Pace now complains. Nor was this issue raised on direct appeal. The contemporaneous objection rule applies to closing

arguments. Pangburn v. State, 661 So.2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 1995; Suggs v. State, 644 So.2d 64, 68 (Fla. 1994); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1994); Street v. State, 636 So.2d 1297, 1303 (Fla. 1994). Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred because Pace could have and should have raised this issue at trial and on direct appeal. Pace's incidental claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to object to the comments at issue here is insufficient to avoid the procedural bar. "Charges of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be used to get around the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot be used as a second appeal." Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So.2d 1054, 1057 (Fla. 1993).

Furthermore, if the merits of Pace's ineffectiveness claim are properly reached, the circuit court correctly determined that the comments at issue were not improper, and, thus, trial counsel did not perform deficiently by failing to object (7PCR 1169-70). The prosecutor properly was commenting on the evidence and responding to the theory of innocence presented by the defense.

Floyd Covington disappeared the morning of November 4, 1988 (3TR 578). Three days later, on November 7, Pace told his stepfather he thought he needed to leave--Pace believed something had happened to Floyd Covington. Pace explained:

Floyd Covington had carried him home the morning of November 4; Pace had entered the home; no one seemed to be home; as he came to a gun rack, he had observed that his brother's gun was missing from the rack; someone had jumped him from behind and choked him until he passed out; he had regained consciousness in some woods, next to Floyd Covington's car; he had seen his brother's gun, picked it up and walked to the car; there had been blood in the car; and Pace had left the scene, walking (5TR However, when Pace had talked to his friend Kim 852-54). Linburger the afternoon of the day Floyd Covington disappeared, Pace had not mentioned Floyd Covington, nor being injured; nor had he appeared to be injured in any way (5TR 922-23). Furthermore, the day after Floyd Covington had disappeared - two days before Pace told his stepfather that he had been knocked out, abducted and left in the woods near Floyd Covington's bloody cab - Pace had used the same gun supposedly stolen from his home, and which Pace supposedly had recovered from the area of the victim's bloody cab, to engage in target practice with Michael Green (4TR 698). Pace had not mentioned Floyd Covington to either Michael Green nor the latter's mother May Green, nor complained about having been injured (4TR 703-04, 707, 717). Nor had he identified a stain on his pants as having come from Floyd Covington's bloody taxi during any abduction; instead he

had claimed to May Green that it was squirrel blood (4TR 709-10). In fact, as later analysis showed, the stain on Pace's trousers was human blood of the same type as Floyd Covington's (4TR 787-88).

During the initial defense closing argument, defense counsel argued that Pace's statement to his stepfather was a reasonable theory of innocence which the State had not disproved (5TR 957-60). The prosecutor responded to this defense argument, inter alia, by noting that Pace's story was inconsistent with his previous statements and behavior, with his apparent lack of any injuries, and with his claim that the blood on his pants was squirrel blood. Pace quotes two paragraphs from the prosecutor's argument in a manner that deprives them of their true context. Here's what the prosecutor said:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, consider a moment, the defendant's story to Mr. Rich. Somebody chokes him and he loses consciousness and wakes up. Unconscious. Next to the cab in Bagdad. And then apparently he gets some beer from somewhere and drinks beer. And he left beer here and left two cans at May Green's. Does that sound like something that someone would [do] if he has been choked out and wakes up beside a cab full of blood? Go drink some beer?

(5PCR 977).

You also heard the testimony, ladies and gentlemen, of Michael Green who indicated on the following morning of November 5 that he came upon the defendant walking down Woodville Road. And he picked him up. And he mentioned to him about going squirrel hunting and that is when he told him about the

shotgun; told him he would take him to get the shotgun. And the defendant told Michael Green and May Green that shotgun was his. And he did not say that it was his brother's, said it was his.

(5PCR 978).

Now ladies and gentlemen, also you will recall the testimony of Michael Green and May Green who both indicated that they'd know the defendant a long time and I think that Michael Green said that he had known him all his life.

The Defendant never makes one mention of Floyd Covington or about the story that he told [Rich] to either May Green or Michael Green. And you recall their testimony about whether or not it appeared he had been injured in any way or complained about being injured in any way. And you will also recall the testimony of Kim Linburger who told you on that Friday afternoon at approximately 12:30 that she saw the defendant and she described to you the clothes that he wore and the vest and pants and shoes. And that he did not complain to her about any injury. certainly could not have been long after what had happened. He never makes any mention of Floyd Covington. And according to her he did not appear to be nervous or upset.

(5TR 979-80).

Now, ladies and gentlemen, let's consider for a moment - before we move on - ladies and gentlemen, let's consider the defendant's story that he told Mr. Rich.

Mr. Rich comes home that day, the morning or afternoon of Monday, November 7 - if you recall, ladies and gentlemen, the calendar, remember the $4^{\rm th}$ is the day that Floyd Covington disappears. And you heard Barbara Mack testify that's the last time that she say him, heard from him. We know that's the same day that the defendant told Mr. Rich he had Floyd Covington take him over to the house. We also know that is the same day that Phillip Brand saw the cab on

Highway 87 south going off the road south of Yellow River Bridge.

Now, on November 5, Saturday morning, November 5, was when Michael Green picked the defendant up, got the shotgun and went to May Green's house. And now we are down to Monday, November 7.

And Mr. Rich testified that he was concerned about the fact that Floyd Covington was missing and that Bruce Pace was possibly missing. He also indicated that he came early that Monday afternoon and that the defendant was there. What does the defendant tell "I think I need to leave." And you heard the defense talk that oh, he stayed around and he didn't go anywhere and went down to the sheriff's office. First thing he tells Mr. Rich, "I need to leave, something happened to Mr. Floyd." And then he tells Mr. Rich that yes, on that morning of November 4, Floyd Covington gave him a ride to the house. And he couldn't get in the front door so he goes in the back door and through the kitchen window. He goes in the bedroom and noticed a shotgun missing on the wall and somebody grabs him from behind and chokes him and he passes out. Wakes up in Bagdad next to the taxicab, shotgun in the taxicab, blood in the taxicab, takes the shotgun and goes walking to May Green's.

Ladies and gentlemen, that is their reasonable hypothesis of innocence. That is what they would have you believe happened on that morning of November 4.

Let's consider that story that the defendant told Mr. Rich. We know from the testimony of Mrs. Rich and Mr. Rich that when they got home that Friday evening, November 4, nothing was knocked over, nothing was torn up, no sign of a struggle. And you must ask yourself why, who would have been sitting there waiting fore the defendant to walk in so he could choke him and then take him out and apparently shoot Floyd Covington, take Floyd Covington out and dump him out beyond Yellow River Bridge and then take the defendant to Bagdad and leave him laying next to the taxicab? Why didn't he kill Bruce Pace? Why take him along? Why not leave him at the house? What was the point, ladies and gentlemen? Use your common sense.

He never reported it, not to any law enforcement agency, not to May Green, Michael Green, not to anyone else. He never tells anybody that he was injured, never reports what happened to him or Floyd Covington.

You heard the testimony of the witnesses regarding any injury or any complaint of injury by the defendant either on the 4th of November or the 5th of November. And, ladies and gentlemen, I submit to you that if he was knocked out or choked out up here on Welcome Road and then taken down Highway 87 where the body was dumped and then back here to where the cab was found in Bagdad where he said that he woke up, he would have had to have been unconscious for at least thirty minutes. No visible injury, no complaint of injury.

If you were going to kill Floyd Covington why wouldn't you kill the defendant? And if you were trying to blame the death of Floyd Covington on the defendant he certainly did a lousy job. And why not leave him in the cab out in front of Rich's house. And that certainly would be more incriminating than leaving him unconscious next to a cab back in the woods in Bagdad.

And also, wasn't it convenient for him to have taken the cab back to Bagdad so when the defendant woke up that he could get up and go to May Green's house that he knew was just a mile away.

(5TR 982-85).

The State is entitled to comment upon the evidence as it exists before the jury, White v. State, 377 So.2d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 1979), and likewise may "fairly reply" to a prior defense argument. State v. Mathis, 278 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1973). Here, as in Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1995), the prosecutor's argument "did not draw the jury's attention to [Pace's] failure to testify but merely directed the jury to

consider the evidence presented." The fact that, before he was arrested, Pace had attempted to provide his stepfather an explanation of innocence which was inconsistent with his previous behavior and his previous statements to May Green and to Michael Green "shows not only guilty knowledge but also the very real intent to cover up the fact that . . . [Floyd Covington's] death was the result of his criminal agency." Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103, 1106-07 (Fla. 1981). See also Reaser v. State, 356 So.2d 891 (Fla. 3rd DCA (1978) (not improper for prosecutor to comment on fact that defendant had, prior to his arrest, failed to inform police of defense he later asserted at trial, i.e., that someone else had committed the Furthermore, it is not improper to comment on a crime). defendant's silence when he is not in custody, as Miranda applies only to custodial statements. Cf., Nelson v. State, 748 So.2d 237 (Fla. 1999) (out-of-court statements of third party admissible under adoptive admission rationale where defendant failed to dispute same; a defendant's silence in the face of an accusation is admissible).

Because there is no merit to the basic complaint, trial counsel cannot have performed deficiently for failing to have objected to the argument. <u>Turner v. Dugger</u>, 614 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1992); <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1366 (Fla. 1992).

Furthermore, even if any portion of this argument might have been objectionable, the argument as a whole was properly directed to the evidence and to the defense that Pace himself proffered. Thus, Pace has failed to carry his burden under Strickland to establish prejudice. The circuit court correctly denied relief on this claim.

ISSUE V

PACE'S <u>APPRENDI/RING</u> ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS

Pace contends here that various of Florida's sentencing procedures are invalid under Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) and Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227 (1999). He notes (fn. 16) that the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari in Ring v. Arizona to review Arizona's judgesentencing procedures in capital cases. Since Pace filed his brief, the United States Supreme Court has issued a decision in Ring, 2002 WL 1357257 (U.S. June 24, 2002), holding that Arizona's death penalty statute violates the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial "to the extent that it allows a sentencing judge, sitting without a jury, to find an aggravating circumstance necessary for imposition of the death penalty."

The Ring decision is very narrow and limited in scope (2002 WL 1357257 at *9, n.4), and it has no impact on the sentence

imposed in this case. For a number of reasons, Pace is not entitled to any relief.

PROCEDURAL BAR

First of all, Pace's challenge to the facial validity of Florida's capital sentencing scheme is procedurally barred. Although the Ring and Apprendi decisions are recent, the statutory scheme and argument to present a claim that Florida's death penalty process violates the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial has been available since Pace's sentencing, but were never asserted as a basis for relief at trial or even in the circuit court postconviction proceedings. Instead, it is being raised for the first time on this appeal (and in Pace's habeas petition filed concurrently with this appeal). Because the issue was not raised below, it not been preserved for this appeal, and there is no ruling by the court below to review.

Furthermore, contrary to Pace's argument, this claim would not have been cognizable if it had been raised below for the first time in postconviction. This Court has consistently and repeatedly stated that the postconviction proceedings do not constitute a second appeal. Issues that were or could have been raised on direct appeal or in prior collateral proceedings may not be litigated anew. See Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1025 (Fla. 1999) (holding that habeas petition claims were

procedurally barred because the claims were raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court or could have been raised on direct appeal); Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1996). Pace did not offer this claim at trial or on direct appeal, and he is barred from doing so for the first time on postconviction.

Not only is this claim barred, but, in addition, the Ring decision is not subject to retroactive application to Pace's trial and sentencing under the principles of Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980). 15 Pursuant to Witt, Ring is only entitled to retroactive application if it is a decision of fundamental significance, which so drastically alters the underpinnings of King's death sentence that "obvious injustice" New v. State, 807 So. 2d 52 (Fla. exists. 2001). In determining whether this standard has been met, this Court must consider three factors: the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001). Application of these factors to Ring, which did not directly or indirectly

Apprendi to this case, the now-decided Ring case is the more appropriate focus of attention. Thus, the State's response will address that decision, rather than Apprendi.

address Florida law, provides no basis for consideration of $\underline{\text{Ring}}$ in this case. 16

Ring does not present a case of fundamental significance. The fact that the question accepted for review in Ring presented potential far-reaching implications does not mean that the ultimate opinion issued meets the Witt standard of fundamental significance. Since, as will be seen, Ring has little or no impact on capital sentencing in Florida, it is not a case of

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